

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

5-2021

Identification of Transcription Regulators of the AlgZ/R Two-Components Regulatory System in Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Kwasi Yeboah East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Yeboah, Kwasi, "Identification of Transcription Regulators of the AlgZ/R Two-Components Regulatory System in Pseudomonas aeruginosa" (2021). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 3854. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/3854

This Thesis - unrestricted is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

Identification of Transcription Regulators of The AlgZ/R Two-Components Regulatory System

in Pseudomonas aeruginosa

A thesis

presented to

the faculty of the Department of Biology

East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree

Master of Science in Biology

by

Kwasi Oduro Yeboah

May 2021

Dr. Christopher Pritchett, Chair

Dr. Bert Lampson

Dr. Laraine Powers

Keywords: Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Transposon mutagenesis, Arbitrary PCR, AlgZ/R

ABSTRACT

Identification of Transcription Regulators of the AlgZ/R Two-Components Regulatory System in Pseudomonas aeruginosa

by

Kwasi Oduro Yeboah

Pseudomonas aeruginosa is an opportunistic pathogen that express a plethora of virulence components controlled through two-component regulatory systems that allow for sensing and responding to environmental stimuli. This study was aimed at identifying transcription regulators of *algZ* that encodes the histidine sensor kinase (AlgZ) of the AlgZR two-component regulatory system. To understand how the *algZ* gene is transcriptionally controlled, transposon mutagenesis was used to create a mutant library with varying *algZ* expression based on their β -Galactosidase activity. The gene *PA3327* was identified as a potential regulator of *algZ* expression using arbitrary PCR. This gene encodes a probable non-ribosomal peptide synthetase responsible for the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites such as antibiotics. Further experiments are required to understand how *PA3327* transcriptionally regulates *algZ* expression and its physiological role in the organism. Because the AlgZ/R system regulates virulence, it is possible to attenuate virulence by targeting the expression of *algZ* gene.

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my two beautiful nieces Yaa Asantewaa Donkor and Akua Boamah Donkor. These two have been the main reason for my academic journey. This work is also dedicated to my mum who has been a pillar in my life.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation my parents, Kofi and Gladys, and my siblings, Adomah and Asante, for their support and encouragement throughout my academic journey. A great thank you to my committee members, Dr. Lampson, Dr. Laraine for accepting to be on my committee. Most especially, my sincere thanks to my mentor, Dr. Christopher Pritchett. Your patience, encouragement, and constructive and technical recommendations has been and will continue to guide me throughout my academic journey. Thank you for accepting me into your lab. Thank you to John, Tasha, and Gethein for your advice and contribution to my project during difficult times. Especially to Gethein for her continuous encouragement and support. Thank you Dr. Fox and Robin for helping me get a hold of many supplies I needed to ensure the progress of my work. A special thank you to Dr. Jennifer Price for your support and advice. Thank you to Denise and Tim for checking on me during late nights and encouraging me when I felt depressed. Thanks to Rhesa at the ETSU Molecular Biology Core Facility for her prompt and timely supply of sequence data.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 10
Pseudomonas aeruginosa10
Virulence Factors
Two-Component Regulatory Systems (TCS)13
AlgZ/R Two-Component System 14
Regulation of algZ/R Operon15
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 17
Bacterial Strains and Growth Conditions17
Transposon Mutagenesis17
High Throughput β-Galactosidase Assay18
Confirmation of β-Galactosidase Assay19
Colony PCR 19
Arbitrary PCR
Growth Curves

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	
Beta-Galactosidase Assay	
PilY1 Represses algZ Expression in Pseudomonas aeruginosa	
Transposon Mutants Screen	
Gentamicin Resistance Screen	
Arbitrary PCR	29
Growth Curves	
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	
Regulators of <i>algZ</i> Identified via Transposon Mutagenesis	
Non-Ribosomal Peptide Synthetase (PA3327)	
Proposed Model of <i>algZ</i> Activation	
Importance	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	
Appendix A: Growth Media	
Pseudomonas Isolation Agar (PIA) (1 Liter)	
Luria-Bertani (LB) (1 liter)	
Appendix B: Buffers	47
10X TAE Buffer (1Liter)	47
Permeabilization Buffer	47

Z Buffer	47
Appendix C: Primers and Plasmids4	48
Arbitrary PCR primers4	48
Gentamicin Screen primers4	48
PA3327 primers4	48
Appendix D: Supplementary Figures4	49
Transposon mutants and corresponding genes4	49
Site of transposon insertion in <i>P. aeruginosa</i> genome4	49
Gel electrophoresis of Gent gene amplicon5	50
VITA5	51

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Colony PCR	20
Table 2. Arbitrary PCR #1	23
Table 3. Arbitrary PCR #2	24
Table 4. Transposon Mutants and Corresponding Interrupted Genes	49

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Schematic representation of bacteria two component system	14
Figure 2.	Schematic representation AlgZ/R operon	15
Figure 3.	Schematic representation of pBT20 plasmid	21
Figure 4.	Principles of arbitrary PCR	22
Figure 5.	algZ expression increases in <i>ApilY1</i> strain	26
Figure 6.	algZ expression in transposon mutants	28
Figure 7.	Gel electrophoresis of transposon mutants containing gentamicin gene	50
Figure 8.	Gel electrophoresis of successful arbitrary PCR products	30
Figure 9.	Genomic position of <i>PA3327</i> and transposon position	49
Figure 10	. Eight member gene cluster containing <i>PA3327</i>	50
Figure 11	. Growth curve assay of transposon mutants	30

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Pseudomonas aeruginosa is a Gram negative opportunistic bacteria and a common nosocomial pathogen known to cause life threatening infections in immunocompromised people (Gellatly & Hancock, 2013). Patients with cystic fibrosis, HIV and people recovering from burn wounds are usually at risk of *P. aeruginosa* infection (Gonzalez et al., 2016; Meynard et al., 1999; Yetkin et al., 2006). P. aeruginosa is metabolically versatile and ubiquitous in the environment, surviving even in the harshest of environments. This characteristic makes it possible for *P. aeruginosa* to inhabit any tissue in the human body. *P. aeruginosa* possesses a wide array of virulence factors that enables it to colonize, survive and damage host tissue while evading detection and elimination by host immune system and antibiotic treatment. It is capable of establishing an acute infection (Pankhaniya et al., 2004) characterized by the presence of pili which mediates adherence, and twitching motility (Bradley, 1980). Pseudomonas aeruginosa exhibit two types of virulence factors. Factors involved in acute (early stage) infection are either on the surface or secreted. The type 4 pili responsible for adherence to epithelium, the exoenzyme S and other adhesins reinforce the adherence to the epithelium. Factors involved in in chronic infection includes siderophores (pyoverdine and pyochelin), which allows bacteria growth in the absence of ferrous ions (Konings et al., 2013; Takase et al., 2000). Strains isolated from patients with cystic fibrosis produce alginate that protects the bacterium from host immune system, dehydration and antibiotics. Alginate production improves adherence to solid surface forming biofilm. Development of alternative therapies for treatment of P. aeruginosa infections is important because of its intrinsic and growing resistance to current antibiotics. One important such alternative therapy is to target regulators of virulence factors using anti-virulence drugs

(Heras et al., 2015). This option can be used to inhibit the expression and activity of virulence factors, facilitating eradication of infections by the host immune response (Leid et al., 2005) and antibiotics (Alkawash et al., 2006). Understanding virulence factor regulation in *P. aeruginosa* is essential to enable us to target regulatory signal responsible for modulating the numerous virulence factors associated with acute and chronic infecting strains.

Virulence Factors

Bacterial virulence factors are cell surface and secreted proteins or biological molecules such as exotoxins, flagella, type IV pili (T4P) and alginate produced by pathogenic bacteria that enable them to colonize a niche in the host, evade and suppress host immune response, damage host tissue, and also obtain nutrients from host (Ben Haj Khalifa et al., 2011; Fleitas Martínez et al., 2019). *P. aeruginosa* virulence factors enables it to initiate and sustain infections or diseases in different hosts and host tissues. Acute infecting strains are motile and are characterized by the possession of early state virulence factors for tissue invasion, tissue necrosis, and attachment to epithelium (Moradali et al., 2017). Chronic infecting strains are sessile, form biofilm and produce alginate (Laventie et al., 2019).

In chronic infecting strains isolated from the lungs of patients with cystic fibrosis, the biosynthesis and secretion of alginate is upregulated (May et al., 1991). This is due to the increase in transcription of enzymes involved in alginate biosynthesis, maturation and secretion. Alginate production and biofilm formation in chronic infecting strains makes them resistant to host immune response and antibiotic treatments (Franklin et al., 2011; May et al., 1991).

Acute infecting strains cause rapid cell death or tissue damage. This is due to the presence of the T3SS used to inject effector proteins directly into eukaryotic cells and exotoxin

A responsible for tissue necrosis and four protease responsible for bleeding and tissue necrosis (Ben Haj Khalifa et al., 2011).

P. aeruginosa is capable of swimming, swarming and twitching motility. Virulence factors mediating these forms of translocation are the T4P and flagella (O'Toole & Kolter, 1998; Persat et al., 2015). These factors enable the bacteria to colonize new niches, as in the case of acute pneumonia when the bacteria moves deeper into lungs from the endotracheal tubes (Hauser, 2009; Sadikot et al., 2005). It has been demonstrated that when this bacterium encounters a solid surface, c-di-GMP levels increases and stimulates pili assembly (Laventie et al., 2019).

Regulation of virulence is important in pathogenic bacteria for survival and continuous presence of a disease condition in a host (Wout et al., 2015) . Depending on the environmental cues, the expression of certain virulence factors are upregulated and others repressed. When *P. aeruginosa* is grown on a solid surface, planktonic cells transition into sessile cells upregulating the expression of genes involved in biofilm formation and alginate biosynthesis (Petrova & Sauer, 2011). *P. aeruginosa* virulence factors are tightly regulated using two-component systems (TCS). This allows the bacteria to sense and respond to environmental cues through signaling pathways which terminates in either activation or repression of gene transcription (Stephenson & Hoch, 2002). The quorum sensing system is another means by which *P. aeruginosa* regulate the expression of virulence genes necessary to the survival and proliferation in host (Whiteley et al., 1999).

12

Two-Component Regulatory Systems (TCS)

Bacterial survival depends on the ability to detect changes in the environmental and mount the appropriate response by upregulating the expression of genes necessary for survival and proliferation in the host (Tiwari et al., 2017). This survival instinct is mediated by twocomponent systems consisting of a membrane bound sensor (histidine) kinase and a cytoplasmic response regulator. PilS-PilR system is an example of a quorum sensing system that regulates type IV pilus expression, biofilm formation, twitching and swarming motility (Ishimoto & Lory, 1992; Kilmury & Burrows, 2016). The sensor kinase picks up environmental cues, autophosphorylates and then relays this information into the cell via phosphorylation of the response regulator (Francis et al., 2018). The phosphorylated response regulator then mediates gene expression through DNA binding. Response regulators have been shown to have transcription regulatory effect in both phosphorylated and unphosphorylated states (Deretic et al., 1992; Ma et al., 1998). This is evident in P. aeruginosa AlgZ/R TCS where phosphorylated AlgR drives the expression of the *fimU* operon leading to type IV pili assembly and unphosphorylated AlgR drives the biosynthesis of alginate through activation of algC and algD expression (Mohr et al., 1992; Zielinski et al., 1992). An example of response regulator phosphorylation in *P. aeruginosa* is when AlgR phosphorylation by AlgZ results in the expression *fimU* operon encoding minor pilins and the PilY1 protein necessary for twitching motility and biofilm formation (Whitchurch et al., 2002) (Luo et al., 2015). In summary, pathogenic bacteria rely on the use of the two-component transcriptional regulatory system for survival and proliferation in the host (Ben Haj Khalifa et al., 2011). The genome of P. aeruginosa encodes one of the largest complements of TCS regulatory proteins found in bacteria and are responsible for the different phenotypes in P. aeruginosa (Rodrigue et al., 2000).



Figure 1. Schematic representation of a generic bacteria two-component system. Phosphorylation of response regulator results in downstream expression of desired genes

<u>AlgZ/R Two-Component System</u>

In *P. aeruginosa*, the AlgZ/R two-component system is of great importance because it coordinates multiple phenotypes (Okkotsu et al., 2014). In this system, AlgZ is the membrane bound sensor kinase, and AlgR is the cytoplasmic response regulator that acts as a transcriptional regulator via DNA binding(Stephenson & Hoch, 2002). During signal transduction, phosphorylation activate transcriptional regulators (Lukat et al., 1992). This is not the case with AlgR since both phosphorylation states are capable of activating gene transcription (Okkotsu et al., 2014). In the phosphorylated state, AlgR regulates twitching motility by activating the transcription and expression of the fimU operon encoding minor pilins important in pilus biogenesis (Whitchurch et al., 1996).

In summary, the AlgZ/R TCS is essential in regulating important virulence factors in *P*. *aeruginosa* and elucidating the regulation of the different components of the system (AlgZ and AlgR) could uncover potential anti-virulence therapies for effectively combating *P. aeruginosa* infections.

Regulation of algZ/R Operon

The genes encoded in the algZ/R operon are co-transcribed occasionally. However, the presence of different and independent promoters for algZ and algR indicates the presence of independent transcription regulation mechanisms for these genes (Pritchett et al., 2015). Two independent promoters for algR are found within the algZ coding region. Recent studies have identified two transcription initiation start sites for algZ upstream of the algZ coding region(Pritchett et al., 2015).



Figure 2. Schematic representation of AlgZ/R operon and the algZ transcriptional fusion. Arrows denote promoters for *algZ*, algR, and *algZ-lacZ* transcriptional fusion. The transcriptional fusion encodes β -Galactosidase.

Although algZ and algR are sometimes co-transcribed, the promoters presented in Figure 2 indicate that regulation of algR expression can occur independently of algZ expression.

Transcriptional regulation of *algR* has been well studied in previously and is known to be modulated by sigma factor AlgU and RpoS (Pritchett et al., 2015). Transcription of *algZ* on the other hand is known to be regulated by virulence factor regulator (Vfr), which binds upstream of *algZ* to intiate transcription. Previous studies have shown that the type IV minor pilins and PilY1 regulate virulence by modulating the activity of AlgZ/R two-component system in *P. aeruginosa* (Marko et al., 2018). However, the exact mechanism of this regulation is still being investigated. Our study aims to determine the regulators of *algZ* expression and their physiological roles in the pathogenesis of *P.aeruginosa*. Since the PilY1 protein encoded in the *fimU* operon negatively regulate *algZ* expression and this regulatory effect is not due to activity through cAMP-Vfr signaling pathway, this unlocked the possibility for the potential discovery of novel regulators of *algZ* expression. Promoter region upstream of *algZ* has an increased activity in a *pilY1* mutant but has no know regulators (Pritchett et al., 2015). This mutant background serve as reference strain for identifying positive regulators of the promoter upstream of *algZ* since these positive regulators repress or inhibit the promoter activity

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains and Growth Conditions

Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO1 wild-type strain was used as the reference strain in all experimental procedures. All strains of *P. aeruginosa* (wild-type and mutants) used in all experiments were grown at 37°C on Pseudomonas Isolation Agar (PIA) and PIA supplemented with the appropriate antibiotics when necessary. For conjugation, *P. aeruginosa* was incubated at 42°C for 2 hours to inactivate the restriction modification system to allow for successful integration of foreign DNA into its genome. The *E. coli sm10 Apir* strain containing the pBT20 plasmid was used for conjugation with $\Delta pilY1algZTF$ -lacZ to generate transposon mutants. *E. coli* strain containing the pBT20 plasmid were grown at 37°C on LB plate supplemented with gentamicin when appropriate. Conjugation reactions were performed on LB plate and incubated at 30°C. For certain experimental procedures, *P. aeruginosa* strains were grown in LB broth supplemented with antibiotics at 37°C with shaking between 8 to 16 hours. Freezer stocks of all bacteria strains were made by mixing 360uL of 50% glycerol, 240uL of LB broth and 400uL of bacterial culture in a freezer tube for storage at -80°C. Plasmids used in this study are listed in Appendix C. Growth media and antibiotic concentrations are listed in Appendix A.

Transposon Mutagenesis

The *pilY1 P. aeruginosa* mutant containing the *algZ* transcriptional fusion $(\Delta pilY1algZTF-lacZ)$ was grown on a PIA plate at 42°C overnight. The sm10 λ pir *E. coli* strain containing the mariner transposon on pBT20 plasmid was grown on LB agar supplemented with 15ug/uL gentamicin and incubated at 37°C overnight. Both strains of bacteria were scraped from their plates, and resuspended in 500uL of sterile 0.85% saline in a 1.5mL microfuge tube and plated on LB agar for 2hrs at 30°C to allow for conjugation. After 2hrs conjugants were scraped,

resuspended in 500uL of sterile 0.85% saline and plated PIA plate supplemented with 150ug/uL gentamicin. Irgasan in PIA kills any remaining *E. coli* whiles gentamicin kills any *P. aeruginosa* strain that does not take up the pBT20 plasmid during the conjugation. These plates were incubated at 37°C for 16 – 24 hours. Isolated colonies representing mutants were then used for High Throughput β -Galactosidase assay to identify mutants with significantly different reporter activity.

High Throughput β-Galactosidase Assay

Isolated mutant colonies on PIA gentamicin plates were inoculated into 200uL LB broth in a 96-well plate with the reference strain $\Delta pilYlalgZTF$ -lacZ inoculated in well A1. The 96well plates were incubated for 8hrs at 37°C with shaking. Cells incubated more than 8hrs showed clumping and biofilm formation leading to inaccurate results from the β-Galactosidase assay. After the 8hrs incubation, optical density (OD) of each well was measured at 600nm using a microtiter plate reader. To rule out the effect of a growth defect on our assay, mutant cells with OD₆₀₀ readings significantly reduced from neighboring cells were excluded from the screening. Using a new 96-well, 100uL of permeabilization buffer was added to each well. From the initial 96-well plate, 10-30uL of 8hrs cultures was transferred into the 100uL permeabilization buffer and mixed thoroughly by pipetting up and down several times. The plates were left for 10 minutes to settle. To each well 30uL of ONPG solution was added and reaction stopped with 70uL of 1M Na₂CO₃ solution when a yellow color developed. The reaction time from addition of ONPG to cessation of reaction with Na₂CO₃ was noted and recorded for the first horizontal line of wells (A1 to A12). The process was repeated for the remaining wells using the same reaction time. The plates were centrifuged at 8000G and optical density of each well measured at 420nm using the microtiter plate. Miller units were calculated using the formula below:

 $1000* (OD_{420})/(OD_{600}*volume of lysate*time)$

Note, time is in minutes, and lysate volume is milliliters.

Confirmation of β -Galactosidase Assay

Using 1:100 dilution factor, 50uL of significant mutants from the High Throughput β-Galactosidase assay were inoculated into 5mL LB broth supplemented with 150ug/ul gentamicin and grown at 37°C with shaking for 8hrs. For confirmation assay, 750ul of cultures were spun at 8000G for 5 minutes. Supernatant discarded and pellet resuspended in 1mL chilled Z-buffer plus 2.7% β-mercaptoethanol (BME). Optical density was measured at 600nm and recorded. Then 50ul chloroform and 50ul 10% SDS were added to each reaction tube and vortexed to permeabilize the cells. Mixture was allowed to sit for 10 minutes to settle and allow for maximum permeabilization. Then 10-200uL of cell lysate was added to Z-buffer plus BME solution and 200uL of ONPG added to make a volume of 1mL. Each reaction was stopped with 500uL of 1M Na₂CO₃ when a yellow color developed. Optical density of each reaction tube was measured and recorded at 420nm and 550nm. Miller units were calculated using the following equation:

1000* (OD₄₂₀-(OD₅₅₀*1.75)/(OD₆₀₀*volume of lysate*time)

Note, time is in minutes, and lysate volume is milliliters.

Colony PCR

To screen for the presence of gentamicin gene in the transposon, colony PCR was performed to confirm insertion of the gent gene into the genome of *P. aeruginosa*. Colony PCR master mix was assembled on ice and 24uL aliquoted into PCR tubes. A single colony of mutant of interest was transferred from a plate using a sterile tooth pick into the PCR tubes.

Table 1.	Colony	PCR	for	Gentamicin	Gene
----------	--------	-----	-----	------------	------

Master Mix	PCR Program
Per sample: 19uL ddH2O 2.5uL 10X PCR Buffer 1uL DMSO 0.5uL 10mM dNTPs 0.5uL 10uL GentF primer	$95^{\circ}C - 3 \text{ minutes}$ $95^{\circ}C - 30 \text{ seconds}$ $60^{\circ}C - 30 \text{ seconds}$ $72^{\circ}C - 2 \text{ minutes}$ Denote the second
0.5uL 10uL GentR primer 0.1uL Taq DNA polymerase	Repeat steps 2-4 30 times 72°C – 5 minutes 4°C – Hold

Arbitrary PCR



(Kulasekara et al., 2005)

Figure 3. Shows the schematic representation of pBT20, the mariner transposon mutagenesis vector. IRL and IRR: inverted repeats for trans position; Gent^R: *aaC1* gene encoding gentamicin resistance for positive selection of transposon insertions; Amp^R: bla gene encoding ampicillin resistance for plasmid conjugation; *Ptac*: the outward directed tac promoter; Mariner C9 Transposases: encodes transposases for recombination; ter: transcription termination; Ori R6K γ origin of replication; *OriT*: origin of transfer from broad host range plasmid.

Genes interrupted by transposon were identified using arbitrary PCR. Arbitrary PCR is a two-step PCR process which involves the arbitrary primers, two different PCR processes. A single colony from a plate of a mutant of interest was inoculated into 3mL LB broth supplemented with 150ug/ul gentamicin and incubated at 37°C for 16hrs with shaking. For DNA template, 750ul of 16hrs culture was spun at 8000G for 5 minutes. Supernatant was discarded and pellet resuspended in 1mL of arbitrary PCR lysis buffer. This solution was then heated at 95°C for 10 minutes and centrifuged at 8000G for 10 minutes. The resulting supernatant was then used as template DNA in the arbitrary PCR reaction. While the cell lysing process was occurring, the master mix for arbitrary PCR was assembled on ice. All primers used in the arbitrary PCR are shown in Appendix C



Round 1



Figure 4. Principle of Arbitrary PCR. Arbitrary primers depicted as solid and striped red bind randomly in the genome. The transposon specific primers depicted blue bind to the transposon and create amplicons in conjunction with the arbitrary primers. Products from round one PCR are used as templates for round two PCR. In the round two PCR, sequence specific primer (turquoise) paired with the Arb2 primer identical to the 5' sequence of the round one arbitrary primers. Round two amplicons are subjected to gel electrophoresis and DNA sequencing.

Master Mix (ARB1)	ARB1 PCR Program
Per reaction:	1. $94^{\circ}C - 3$ minutes
36.25uL ddH ₂ O	2. $94^{\circ}C - 3$ minutes
1uL DMSO	3. $49^{\circ}C - 30$ seconds (reduce temp
1uL 10nMdNTPs	by 1°C for each subsequent round)
5uL Thermopol buffer	4. $72^{\circ}C - 3$ minutes
2uL 10uM ARB1 primer (RdPa1, RdPa2,	5. Repeat steps 2-4 15 times
RdPa3, or combination of these primers)	6. $94^{\circ}C - 30$ seconds
2uL 10uM internal specific primer (R1TnM)	7. $60^{\circ}C - 30$ seconds
0.25uL Taq DNA polymerase	8. $72^{\circ}C - 3minutes$
	9. Repeat steps 6-8 20 times
	10. 12°C – Hold

Table 2. Arbitrary PCR #1

To each PCR reaction tube, 46uL of the master mix was added along with 1.5uL of supernatant from lysed cultures. Samples were transferred to a thermal cycler and run using the ARB1 PCR program. At the end of the ARB1 program, master mix for ARB2 PCR was assembled on ice.

Master mix (ARB2)	ARB2 PCR Program
Per reaction:	1. 94°C – 3 minutes
28.25 ddH ₂ O	2. $94^{\circ}C - 30$ seconds
luL DMSO	3. $60^{\circ}C - 30$ seconds
5uL Thermopol buffer	4. $72^{\circ}C - 2$ minutes
5uL 10uM ARB2 primer (Rd2Pa)	5. Repeat steps 2-4 30 times
5uL 10uM external specific primer	6. $72^{\circ}C - 5$ minutes
	7. 12°C – Hold
0.25uL Taq DNA polymerase	

Table 3. Arbitrary PCR #2

For ARB2 PCR reactions, 43uL of master mix was aliquoted into PCR reaction tubes and 1.5uL of ARB1 PCR product added as template. The tubes were transferred to the thermal cycler and ARB2 PCR program run.

At the end of the ARB2 PCR program, products were analyzed using agarose gel electrophoresis to determine the band sizes of amplicons (appendix C). PCR products fromARB2 were cleaned up using the Monarch DNA Gel Extraction Kit (New England BioLabs[®]) according to manufacturer's instructions and sent to the ETSU Molecular Biology Core Facility for sequencing.

Growth Curves

To rule out the effect of a growth defect contributing to differences in *algZ* gene expression, growth curve experiments were performed. Mutants and wild-type PAO1 *P*. *aeruginosa* cells were inoculated into tubes containing 5mL LB broth. Tubes were incubated overnight at 37^oC with shaking. Cells were sub-cultured by taking 1% volume of parent culture and diluting it in a flask containing 250mL LB broth and incubated at 37^oC with shaking. At 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, and 24 hours, 1mL aliquots of cultures were removed and used for OD₆₀₀ measurements.

Density at 600nm were measured and recorded at 6 time points. Results were graphed and analyzed analyzed to determine growth defects between mutants and wild-type *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

Beta-Galactosidase Assay

PilY1 Represses algZ Expression in Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Aside from playing an important role in mechanosensing, minor pilins and PilY1 protein are involve in the regulation of AlgZ (Marko et al., 2018). For this reason, a *pilY1* mutant was constructed and used as a reference strain in a beta-galactosidase screening. Expression of *algZ* was measured in the reference strain and transposon mutant strains using the *algZ-lacZ* transcriptional fusion in a beta-galactosidase assay.



algZ-lacZ

Figure 5. *algZ* expression increases in $\Delta pilYI$ relative to PAO1. β -Galactosidase activity in these strains were measured in triplicates after growth of strains in LB broth for 8 hours. Statistical analysis (ttest) of expression in PAO1 and $\Delta pilYI$ has a p<0.001

In the *pilY1* mutant background, a significant increase in algZ expression was observed, indicating that PilY1 represses algZ expression. Previous studies have shown that other minor pilins such as *pilW*, *pilV* represses *algZ* expression (Marko et al., 2018). Effect of *pilY1* on *algR* expression was not assessed in this experiment.

Transposon Mutants Screen

To determine genes responsible for the increase in *algZ* expression in the *pilY1* mutant strain, a transposon mutagenesis screening was performed. *E. coli* strain *sm10 \lambdapir* containing pBT20 plasmid (Kulasekara et al., 2005) was conjugated with the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* $\Delta pilY1algZTF$ -lacZ strain. During the conjugation, the mariner transposon contained in the pBT20 plasmid (Appendix C) inserts randomly in the chromosome of the *P. aeruginosa*, inactivating genes resulting in changes in *algZ* expression in the transcriptional fusion. *Pseudomonas* cells not transformed during conjugation die from the bactericidal effect of gentamicin in the growth plate.

Approximately 5000 transposon mutants were screened during this experiment, out of this number, 5 mutants were found to have significant decrease in *algZ* expression relative to the *ApilY1algZTF-lacZ* strain.



Figure 6. *algZ* expression in transposon mutants. Mutants generated had decreased *algZ* expression relative to *pilY1* mutant strain. TnM4 and TnM4 are hits corresponding to the *lacZ* gene. TnM2 correspond to *algR* and TnM1 corresponds to PA3327 in *P. aeruginosa* genome.

Comparing the β -Galactosidase activity of TnM1 and TnM2 (*PA3327 & algR*) to the wild type PAO1 strain and the $\Delta pilY1$ strain, TnM1 and TnM2 have significant reduced *algZ* expression relative to the $\Delta pilY1$ and similar *algZ* expression relative to the wild type PAO1 strain. Under the *pilY1* mutant background, *PA3327* acts as a potential positive regulator of *algZ* expression.

The *lacZ* gene encoding the beta-galactosidase enzyme was interrupted twice, these mutants (TnM4 & TnM5) had no *algZ* expression because the insertion of the mariner transposon into the *lacZ* gene inhibited the expression of the enzyme resulting in no measurement in the beta-gal assay.

Gentamicin Resistance Screen

To select for transformed *P. aeruginosa* strains after conjugation with pBT20, the cells were cultured on PIA gent plates (Appendix A). In some instances, *Pseudomonas* strains were able to grow on PIA gent plate due to random insertions of gentamicin gene into their genome. For this reason, colony PCR was used to screen for the presence of gentamicin gene in the *Pseudomonas* mutants capable of growing on the PIA gent plates. The primers used for the colony PCR were gentF and gentR (Appendix C). The *E. coli sm10λ*-pBT20 was used as a positive control for the colony PCR. Mutants with PCR products equal to the positive control were used for downstream applications. All transposon mutants were screened for the insertion of the mariner transposon in their chromosome prior to β -Galactosidase assay.

<u>Arbitrary PCR</u>

Genes interrupted by the transposon were identified using arbitrary PCR. For round one arbitrary PCR in this experiment, RdPa1, RdPa2, and R1TnM (Appendix C) were used. Products from the round one reaction were used for the round two reaction. In the round two reaction, the primers Rd2Pa and the transposon specific primer R2TnM (Appendix C) were used. PCR products were cleaned up using the Monarch DNA Gel Extraction Kit (New England BioLabs®) as per instructions provided with the kit. Concentration and purity of round two PCR products were determined using nanodrop.



Figure 8. Gel electrophoresis of successful arbitrary PCR products. Round two PCR results on an agarose gel. TnM1 shows two bands with sizes of approximately 500bp and 700bp. TnM2 shows a single band with a size of approximately 500bp. Samples were screened and sequenced to identify the genes involved.

Growth Curves

Mutants were subjected to growth curve assay to determine if the genes interrupted encoded proteins necessary for growth or biochemical processes involved in growth and development.



Figure 11. Growth curve assay. Transposon mutant had a similar growth rate compared to the wild type PAO1 and $\Delta pilY1$ strains after 24 hours of growth at 37°C.

The mutants with *lacZ* interrupted had no *algZ* expression when they were subjected to beta-Galactosidase assay. All other mutants had relative reduced *algZ* expression compared with the screening reference strain. A mucD mutant was identified in the screens. This mutant was mucoid and protease deficient but had a relatively increased algZ expression compared with the reference so was not added to our significant mutants.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

The opportunist pathogen Pseudomonas aeruginosa is highly adaptable to different environmental conditions due to the presence of a plethora of virulence factors at its disposal. These virulence factors make Pseudomonas aeruginosa resistant to immune clearance and antibiotic treatment, particularly in immunocompromised patients such as those undergoing cancer treatment or those with cystic fibrosis or severe burn wounds. These virulence factors are subject to complex regulation through two-component regulatory systems allowing sensing and responding to environmental cues. Therefore understanding regulation of virulence factors in Pseudomonas aeruginosa has become imperative for determining potential targets and development of new anti-virulence therapies. Pseudomonas aeruginosa uses the AlgZ/R TCS to regulate virulence gene expression in response to external stimuli. AlgR, the response regulator encoded by the *algR* gene has been studied extensively with known regulators such as the Vfr, Rpos, or AlgU but the signals sensed by AlgZ, the sensor kinase, remain unknown and regulation of algZ expression has not been extensively studied though Vfr is known to regulate algZ expression (Pritchett et al., 2015). The aim of this study was to identify novel regulators of algZexpression and how they contribute to virulence. The potential for elucidating the regulation of algZ expression includes attenuation of virulence through inhibition of algZ expression and also contribute to the understanding of AlgZ signaling.

Regulators of algZ Identified via Transposon Mutagenesis

The use of transposon mutagenesis screens remain a powerful tool for the identification of novel genes involved in controlling essential biological processes in bacteria. In *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, transposon mutagenesis has been used in the identification of virulence genes encoding proteins necessary for disease causation and survival. The significance of transposon

mutagenesis technique was shown in our screen for regulators of *algZ* expression (Kulasekara et al., 2005). In the work, approximately 5000 mutants were screened and ten genes were identified to as potential regulators of *algZ* expression. The genes identified include *fimS*, *algR*, *lacZ* and *PA3327*. Of all the genes identified through transposon mutagenesis, the most interesting ones were *algR* and *PA3327*.

Non-Ribosomal Peptide Synthetase (PA3327)

Pseudomonas aeruginosa genome encodes four uncharacterized Non-ribosomal Peptide Synthetases (NRPSs) which play significant roles including the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites (non-ribosomal peptides) such as siderophores, antibiotics, pigments and harmful toxins (Martínez-Núñez & López, 2016). These non-ribosomal peptides play important roles in cellular signaling, intra- and interspecies communication, and virulence. In the transposon mutagenesis screening, PA3327 was identified and encodes a putative non-ribosomal peptide synthetase and is part of an eight member gene cluster that includes a gene encoding an FADdependent monooxygenase. In a *pilY1* mutant background and using beta-galactosidase assay, inactivation of the NRPS encoded by PA3327 repressed the expression of algZ. To rule out polar effects of *PA3327* inactivation of downstream genes in the cluster, deletion mutants of all the genes in the cluster should be made and their corresponding effects of algZ expression determined using β -galactosidase activity. Although the *PA3327* mutant did not exhibit any phenotypic characteristic, it is expected to regulate the expression of some virulence factors due to its regulatory effects on *algZ* expression leading to AlgR phosphorylation and subsequent expression and repression of known virulence factors in *P. aeruginosa*.

Previous studies have shown that *algZ* expression is activated by the virulence factor regulator (Vfr) which binds to sequences upstream of the transcriptional start site (Kanack et al.,

2006). In another study it was shown that Vfr activates *lasR* (transcription regulator) expression and a blast analysis revealed a LasR binding site upstream *PA3327* transcriptional start site. LasR acts as a transcriptional regulator of *PA3327*, indicating an indirect regulatory mechanism between Vfr and *PA3327* expression via LasR. The non-ribosomal peptide synthesized by the NRPS PA3327 can be considered as a transcription enhancer, upregulating the expression of *algZ* gene. To elucidate the signaling pathway and understand the role of *PA3327* in *algZ* expression and virulence regulation, *PA3327* deletion construct expressing *algZ_lacZ* or *algZ_lux* reporter in different mutant backgrounds of the genes known to regulate *PA3327* expression should be made and *algZ* expression measured using beta-galactosidase assay. Since AlgZR system regulates biofilm formation, twitching motility, cyanide production, and rhamnolipids production, a *PA3327* mutant would be tested to determine which of these phenotypes it regulates by repressing the expression of *algZ*.

Proposed Model of algZ Activation



Importance

In bacteria pathogenesis, virulence genes regulation is essential for disease causation and survival of pathogens against host immune response and antibiotic treatment. Considering *P. aeruginosa* pathogenesis, the AlgZ/R TCS regulate a number virulence factors and inactivation of this system leading to virulence attenuation could be explored as possible therapeutic targets to treat and prevent spread of *P. aeruginosa* infection. This opportunistic pathogen exhibits acute phase virulence factors such as protease and exotoxins production, and chronic phase virulence

factors such as biofilm formation and alginate production. Therefore exploring how *PA3327* regulates *algZ* expression and virulence could be a great step towards the development of anti-virulence drugs for treating *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections

REFERENCES

- Alkawash, M. A., Soothill, J. S., & Schiller, N. L. (2006). Alginate lyase enhances antibiotic killing of mucoid Pseudomonas aeruginosa in biofilms. *APMIS*, *114*(2), 131–138. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0463.2006.apm_356.x
- Ben Haj Khalifa, A., Moissenet, D., Vu Thien, H., & Khedher, M. (2011). [Virulence factors in Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Mechanisms and modes of regulation]. *Annales De Biologie Clinique*, 69(4), 393–403. https://doi.org/10.1684/abc.2011.0589
- Bradley, D. E. (1980). A function of Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO polar pili: Twitching motility. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 26(2), 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1139/m80-022
- Das, S., Noe, J. C., Paik, S., & Kitten, T. (2005). An improved arbitrary primed PCR method for rapid characterization of transposon insertion sites. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 63(1), 89–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2005.02.011
- Deretic, V., Leveau, J. H. J., Mohr, C. D., & Hibler, N. S. (1992). In vitro phosphorylation of AlgR, a regulator of mucoidy in Pseudomonas aeruginosa, by a histidine protein kinase and effects of small phospho-donor molecules. *Molecular Microbiology*, 6(19), 2761– 2767. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.1992.tb01455.x
- Fleitas Martínez, O., Cardoso, M. H., Ribeiro, S. M., & Franco, O. L. (2019). Recent Advances in Anti-virulence Therapeutic Strategies With a Focus on Dismantling Bacterial Membrane Microdomains, Toxin Neutralization, Quorum-Sensing Interference and

Biofilm Inhibition. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2019.00074

- Francis, V. I., Waters, E. M., Finton-James, S. E., Gori, A., Kadioglu, A., Brown, A. R., & Porter, S. L. (2018). Multiple communication mechanisms between sensor kinases are crucial for virulence in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 2219. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04640-8
- Franklin, M. J., Nivens, D. E., Weadge, J. T., & Howell, P. L. (2011). Biosynthesis of the Pseudomonas aeruginosa Extracellular Polysaccharides, Alginate, Pel, and Psl. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2011.00167
- Gellatly, S. L., & Hancock, R. E. W. (2013). Pseudomonas aeruginosa: New insights into pathogenesis and host defenses. *Pathogens and Disease*, 67(3), 159–173. https://doi.org/10.1111/2049-632X.12033
- Gonzalez, M. R., Fleuchot, B., Lauciello, L., Jafari, P., Applegate, L. A., Raffoul, W., Que, Y.A., & Perron, K. (2016). Effect of Human Burn Wound Exudate on Pseudomonas aeruginosa Virulence. *MSphere*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphere.00111-15
- Hauser, A. R. (2009). The type III secretion system of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Infection by injection. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 7(9), 654–665. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2199

- Heras, B., Scanlon, M. J., & Martin, J. L. (2015). Targeting virulence not viability in the search for future antibacterials. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 79(2), 208–215. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.12356
- Ishimoto, K. S., & Lory, S. (1992). Identification of pilR, which encodes a transcriptional activator of the Pseudomonas aeruginosa pilin gene. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 174(11), 3514–3521. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC206036/
- Kanack, K. J., Runyen-Janecky, L. J., Ferrell, E. P., Suh, S.-J., & West, S. E. H. (2006).
 Characterization of DNA-binding specificity and analysis of binding sites of the
 Pseudomonas aeruginosa global regulator, Vfr, a homologue of the Escherichia coli
 cAMP receptor protein. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, *152*(Pt 12), 3485–3496.
 https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.29008-0
- Kilmury, S. L. N., & Burrows, L. L. (2016). Type IV pilins regulate their own expression via direct intramembrane interactions with the sensor kinase PilS. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(21), 6017–6022. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1512947113
- Konings, A. F., Martin, L. W., Sharples, K. J., Roddam, L. F., Latham, R., Reid, D. W., & Lamont, I. L. (2013). Pseudomonas aeruginosa Uses Multiple Pathways To Acquire Iron during Chronic Infection in Cystic Fibrosis Lungs. *Infection and Immunity*, 81(8), 2697– 2704. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00418-13

- Kulasekara, H. D., Ventre, I., Kulasekara, B. R., Lazdunski, A., Filloux, A., & Lory, S. (2005). A novel two-component system controls the expression of Pseudomonas aeruginosa fimbrial cup genes. *Molecular Microbiology*, 55(2), 368–380. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04402.x
- Laventie, B.-J., Sangermani, M., Estermann, F., Manfredi, P., Planes, R., Hug, I., Jaeger, T.,
 Meunier, E., Broz, P., & Jenal, U. (2019). A Surface-Induced Asymmetric Program
 Promotes Tissue Colonization by Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 25(1),
 140-152.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2018.11.008
- Leid, J. G., Willson, C. J., Shirtliff, M. E., Hassett, D. J., Parsek, M. R., & Jeffers, A. K. (2005). The Exopolysaccharide Alginate Protects Pseudomonas aeruginosa Biofilm Bacteria from IFN-γ-Mediated Macrophage Killing. *The Journal of Immunology*, *175*(11), 7512– 7518. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.175.11.7512
- Lukat, G. S., McCleary, W. R., Stock, A. M., & Stock, J. B. (1992). Phosphorylation of bacterial response regulator proteins by low molecular weight phospho-donors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 89(2), 718–722. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.2.718
- Luo, Y., Zhao, K., Baker, A. E., Kuchma, S. L., Coggan, K. A., Wolfgang, M. C., Wong, G. C.
 L., & O'Toole, G. A. (2015). A Hierarchical Cascade of Second Messengers Regulates
 Pseudomonas aeruginosa Surface Behaviors. *MBio*, 6(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02456-14

- Ma, S., Selvaraj, U., Ohman, D. E., Quarless, R., Hassett, D. J., & Wozniak, D. J. (1998).
 Phosphorylation-Independent Activity of the Response Regulators AlgB and AlgR in
 Promoting Alginate Biosynthesis in MucoidPseudomonas aeruginosa. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *180*(4), 956–968. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.180.4.956-968.1998
- Marko, V. A., Kilmury, S. L. N., MacNeil, L. T., & Burrows, L. L. (2018). Pseudomonas aeruginosa type IV minor pilins and PilY1 regulate virulence by modulating FimS-AlgR activity. *PLOS Pathogens*, 14(5), e1007074. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1007074
- Martínez-Núñez, M. A., & López, V. E. L. y. (2016). Nonribosomal peptides synthetases and their applications in industry. *Sustainable Chemical Processes*, 4(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40508-016-0057-6
- May, T. B., Shinabarger, D., Maharaj, R., Kato, J., Chu, L., DeVault, J. D., Roychoudhury, S.,
 Zielinski, N. A., Berry, A., & Rothmel, R. K. (1991). Alginate synthesis by Pseudomonas aeruginosa: A key pathogenic factor in chronic pulmonary infections of cystic fibrosis patients. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 4(2), 191–206.
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC358191/
- Meynard, J. L., Barbut, F., Guiguet, M., Batisse, D., Lalande, V., Lesage, D., Guiard-Schmid, J.
 B., Petit, J. C., Frottier, J., & Meyohas, M. C. (1999). Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in human immunodeficiency virus infected patients. *The Journal of Infection*, 38(3), 176–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0163-4453(99)90247-5

- Mohr, C. D., Leveau, J. H., Krieg, D. P., Hibler, N. S., & Deretic, V. (1992). AlgR-binding sites within the algD promoter make up a set of inverted repeats separated by a large intervening segment of DNA. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *174*(20), 6624–6633. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.174.20.6624-6633.1992
- Moradali, M. F., Ghods, S., & Rehm, B. H. A. (2017). Pseudomonas aeruginosa Lifestyle: A Paradigm for Adaptation, Survival, and Persistence. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00039
- Okkotsu, Y., Little, A. S., & Schurr, M. J. (2014). The Pseudomonas aeruginosa AlgZR twocomponent system coordinates multiple phenotypes. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2014.00082
- O'Toole, G. A., & Kolter, R. (1998). Flagellar and twitching motility are necessary for Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm development. *Molecular Microbiology*, *30*(2), 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.01062.x
- Pankhaniya, R. R., Tamura, M., Allmond, L. R., Moriyama, K., Ajayi, T., Wiener-Kronish, J. P., & Sawa, T. (2004). Pseudomonas aeruginosa causes acute lung injury via the catalytic activity of the patatin-like phospholipase domain of ExoU*. *Critical Care Medicine*, 32(11), 2293–2299. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.CCM.0000145588.79063.07
- Persat, A., Inclan, Y. F., Engel, J. N., Stone, H. A., & Gitai, Z. (2015). Type IV pili mechanochemically regulate virulence factors in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(24), 7563–7568. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1502025112

Petrova, O. E., & Sauer, K. (2011). SagS Contributes to the Motile-Sessile Switch and Acts in Concert with BfiSR To Enable Pseudomonas aeruginosa Biofilm Formation. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 193(23), 6614–6628. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00305-11

Pritchett, C. L., Little, A. S., Okkotsu, Y., Frisk, A., Cody, W. L., Covey, C. R., & Schurr, M. J. (2015). Expression Analysis of the Pseudomonas aeruginosa AlgZR Two-Component Regulatory System. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 197(4), 736–748. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.02290-14

- Rodrigue, A., Quentin, Y., Lazdunski, A., Méjean, V., & Foglino, M. (2000). Two-component systems in Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Why so many? *Trends in Microbiology*, 8(11), 498–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0966-842x(00)01833-3
- Sadikot, R. T., Blackwell, T. S., Christman, J. W., & Prince, A. S. (2005). Pathogen–Host Interactions in Pseudomonas aeruginosa Pneumonia. *American Journal of Respiratory* and Critical Care Medicine, 171(11), 1209–1223. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200408-1044SO
- Stephenson, K., & Hoch, J. A. (2002). Two-component and phosphorelay signal-transduction systems as therapeutic targets. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, 2(5), 507–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1471-4892(02)00194-7
- Takase, H., Nitanai, H., Hoshino, K., & Otani, T. (2000). Impact of Siderophore Production on Pseudomonas aeruginosa Infections in Immunosuppressed Mice. *Infection and Immunity*, 68(4), 1834–1839. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC97355/

- Tiwari, S., Jamal, S. B., Hassan, S. S., Carvalho, P. V. S. D., Almeida, S., Barh, D., Ghosh, P.,
 Silva, A., Castro, T. L. P., & Azevedo, V. (2017). Two-Component Signal Transduction
 Systems of Pathogenic Bacteria As Targets for Antimicrobial Therapy: An Overview. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01878
- Whitchurch, C. B., Alm, R. A., & Mattick, J. S. (1996). The alginate regulator AlgR and an associated sensor FimS are required for twitching motility in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *93*(18), 9839–9843. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.18.9839
- Whitchurch, Cynthia B., Erova, T. E., Emery, J. A., Sargent, J. L., Harris, J. M., Semmler, A. B. T., Young, M. D., Mattick, J. S., & Wozniak, D. J. (2002). Phosphorylation of the Pseudomonas aeruginosa response regulator AlgR is essential for type IV fimbria-mediated twitching motility. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *184*(16), 4544–4554. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.184.16.4544-4554.2002
- Whiteley, M., Lee, K. M., & Greenberg, E. P. (1999). Identification of genes controlled by quorum sensing in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(24), 13904–13909. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.24.13904
- Wout, E. F. A. van 't, Schadewijk, A. van, Boxtel, R. van, Dalton, L. E., Clarke, H. J., Tommassen, J., Marciniak, S. J., & Hiemstra, P. S. (2015). Virulence Factors of Pseudomonas aeruginosa Induce Both the Unfolded Protein and Integrated Stress Responses in Airway Epithelial Cells. *PLOS Pathogens*, *11*(6), e1004946. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004946

- Yetkin, G., Otlu, B., Cicek, A., Kuzucu, C., & Durmaz, R. (2006). Clinical, microbiologic, and epidemiologic characteristics of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections in a University Hospital, Malatya, Turkey. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 34(4), 188–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2005.11.010
- Zielinski, N. A., Maharaj, R., Roychoudhury, S., Danganan, C. E., Hendrickson, W., & Chakrabarty, A. M. (1992). Alginate synthesis in Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Environmental regulation of the algC promoter. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *174*(23), 7680– 7688. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.174.23.7680-7688.1992

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Growth Media

Pseudomonas Isolation Agar (PIA) (1 Liter)

950mL ddH₂O 20mL glycerol 25mg Irgasan

Bring to a boil, then add

20g peptone 10g potassium sulfate 1.4g magnesium chloride 15g agar

QS to 1000mL with ddH_2O Autoclave

Antibiotics: 150ug/uL gentamicin

Luria-Bertani (LB) (1 liter)

950mL ddH₂O 10g tryptone 5g yeast extract 10g sodium chloride 10g-15g agar (depending on desired percentage)

QS to 1000mL with ddH₂O Autoclave Antibiotics: 15ug/mL gentamicin 100ug/mL ampicillin

Appendix B: Buffers

10X TAE Buffer (1Liter)

800mL ddH₂O 48.5g Tris 11.4mL glacial acetic acid 20mL 0.5M EDTA (pH 8.0) QS to 1000mL to 1Liter with ddH₂O

Dilute 10X TAE 10:1 to make a 1X working solution

Permeabilization Buffer

1% v/v Triton X-100 1.9mM DTT 8mM EDTA 8mM Na₂HPO₄ 24mM Tris-HCL

Z Buffer

900mL ddH₂O 16.1g Na₂HPO₄ · 7H₂O 5.5g NaH₂PO4 · H₂O 0.75g KCl 0.246g MgSO₄ · 7H₂O pH to 7 and autoclave Add 2.7uL/mL of β -mercaptoethanol (BME) when ready to use Appendix C: Primers and Plasmids

Arbitrary PCR primers

RdPa1: GGCCACGCGTCGACTAGTACNNNNNNNNNAGAG RdPa2: GGCCACGCGTCGACTAGTACNNNNNNNNNACGCC RdPa3: GGCCACGCGTCGACTAGTACNNNNNNNNNGATAT R1TnM: TATAATGTGTGGGAATTGTGAGCGG Rd2Pa: GGCCACGCGTCGACTCTAGTAC R2TnM: ACAGGAAACAGGACTCTAGAGG TnMSq: CACCCAGCTTTCTTGTACAC

Gentamicin Screen primers

GentF: ATGTTACGCAGCAGCAACGATG GentR: TTAGGTGGCGGTACTTGGGTC

PA3327 primers

PA3327EcoR1F: GCCGGAATTCGCCTTGTTTGACTCGCCCTGA PA3327XbalR: GGCATCTAGACTGACCTTCCCAGGAGTCGA PA3327 SOEF: GTTGAAGAGGACGCAGGGGTATGCTGGTCGCAGACATCCCCTGA PA3327 SOER: TCAGGGGATGTCTGCGACCAGCATACCCCTGCGTCCTCTTCAAC PA3327intF: CGGCATATCGAAACCTTCCT PA3327intR: TGTTCTGGTGGAGTTTCACC

Appendix D: Supplementary Figures

Transposon mutants and corresponding genes

MUTANT	GENE IDENTIFIED
TnM1	PA3327
TnM2	algR
TnM3	fimS
TnM4	lacZ
TnM5	lacZ

Table 4. Transposon mutants and corresponding genes

Site of transposon insertion in P. aeruginosa genome



3730000

Figure 9. Genomic position of *PA3327* and the position of transposon insertion in *P. aeruginosa.* The transposon inserted close to the 5' end of the gene. Intergenic region between *clpP2* and *PA3327* indicate *PA3327* is the start of an eight member gene cluster that has the non-ribosomal peptide synthetase as a subunit.

Arbitrary PCR products were sent for sequencing at the ETSU Molecular Biology Core Facility.



Figure 10. Eight member gene cluster containing the *PA337* encoding the putative nonribosomal peptide synthetase, *fabH2* encoding an FAD-monooxygenase, and *acp3* encoding a protein that catalyze the orthophosphoric monoester to alcohol and orthophosphate.

Gel electrophoresis of Gent gene amplicon



Figure 7. Gel electrophoresis of transposon mutants containing gentamicin gene. All mutants had the gent gene present in their genome. *E. coli* containing the pBT20 plasmid was used as a positive control for the gent gene. The size of the gent gene amplicon is around 500bp.

VITA

KWASI ODURO YEBOAH

Education:	M.S. Biology, Biomedical Sciences Concentration, East Tennessee
	State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2020
	M.S. Biochemistry, University of Ghana, Ghana, 2017
	B.S. Biochemistry, University of Cape Coast, Ghana, 2011
Professional Experience:	Graduate Assistant, East Tennessee State University, College of
	Arts and Sciences (Department of Biology), 2019
	Graduate Assistant, East Tennessee State University, College of
	Public Health (Dept. of Health Sciences), 2020
	Laboratory Analyst, G2 Medical Laboratory Services,
	Accra, 2016-2018
	Research Assistance, Malaria Capacity Development Consortium
	(MCDC), KNUST, Ghana, 2011-2013
Research Experience:	M.S. Biology, Biomedical Science, ETSU, 2020
	Title: Identification of Transcription Regulators of The
	AlgZ/R Two-Components Regulatory System in
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa
	M.S. Biochemistry, University of Ghana, Ghana, 2017
	Title: Indicators of Disease Progression in HIV Infection:
	Estimating Viral Load Using CD4 Count.
	B.S. Biochemistry, University of Cape Coast, Ghana, 2011

Title: Determination of Acetalaldehyde Concentration in

"Pito" a Locally Brewed Beer in Ghana